# FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 5/21/2020 2:55 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/26/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98582-1 Court of Appeals No. 47916-8-II

#### THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KENNETH LINVILLE,

Petitioner.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

GREGORY C. LINK Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#### **

#### B. Introduction

This Court previously agreed that when the State charges a person with leading organized crime the State is statutorily barred from also prosecuting the person for crimes that do not fall within the definition of "criminal profiteering activity." Yet that is precisely what the State did.

The trial court did not prevent the State from violating the statute. Defense counsel failed to object.

After this Court held Mr. Linville could not demonstrate defense counsel was ineffective, the Court of Appeals concluded he could not challenge the unlawful prosecution and convictions on appeal.

#### C. Issues Presented

1. Where a person is charged with the offense of leading organized crime, RCW 9A.82.085 limits the offenses which may be joined at trial to only those offenses alleged to be a part of the criminal profiteering activity. Where the State did not allege any offense was a part of the pattern of criminal profiteering activity did the court err in allowing the State to prosecute 140 counts in addition to the charge of leading organized crime?

- 2. Criminal profiteering activity is specifically defined by statute as involving one of 46 specific types of crimes. Where 53 of the counts against Mr. Linville involved crimes which are not defined as criminal profiteering activity did the court err in allowing the State to prosecute those 53 counts in addition to the charge of leading organized crime?
- 3. The general statute governing accomplice liability is superseded when a specific offense dictates the liability of a group of actors who participate in an offense. Trafficking in stolen property punishes the actions of the person who organizes, initiates or manages the theft of property for resale. When the legislature defines an offense to focus upon the actions of such a leader, can a conviction rest upon accomplice liability?
- 4. Proof of a firearm enhancement requires the State prove the defendant or an accomplice possessed a firearm during the crime in a manner indicative of an intent or willingness to use it in furtherance of the crime. Where the State merely proved theft of a firearm during a burglary did the State prove Mr. Linville was armed for purpose of the enhancement?
- 5. The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment prohibits multiple convictions based upon a single unit of prosecution. The unit of prosecution is the behavior or act which the legislature intends to

criminalize. Where the statute defining the crime reveals the unit of prosecution for trafficking in stolen property, is organizing and engaging in the marketplace of stolen property do Mr. Linville's 39 convictions of trafficking in stolen property violate double jeopardy protections?

#### D. Statement of the Case

In late 2013, authorities began noticing an increase in residential burglaries in Thurston County. RP 477-78. Police noticed similarities among the burglaries including the fact that the vast majority involved entry through the front door and involved use of a tool to pry and force the door open. RP 478-80.

The police investigation led them to Kelly Olsen who acknowledged her involvement but quickly blamed to Mr. Linville as the one responsible. RP 485-86.

Police also arrested Jessica Hargrave, after she sold items stolen in a burglary. RP 514. Ms. Hargrave admitted her involvement in a substantial number of the burglaries for which Mr. Linville was ultimately charged. RP 517-18.

Ultimately, police arrested Mr. Linville. Upon searching the apartment where Mr. Linville lived with Ms. Hargrave and Teya Harris, police recovered numerous items belonging to several of the homeowners. RP 578-80

The State charged Mr. Linville with 138 counts including: one count of leading organized crime, 41 counts of burglary, 39 counts of trafficking in stolen property, numerous counts of theft, numerous counts of possession of stolen property, firearm possession counts, and possession of controlled substances. CP 365-391. The State also alleged four firearm enhancements. CP 370, 377, 386, 390.

A number of persons who participated in the crimes received substantially reduced sentences. In turn, each testified to their involvement but pointed the finger at Mr. Linville as the instigator of the crimes. Ms. Hargrave, despite her admission to participating in the vast majority of burglaries pleaded guilty in exchange for a Drug Offender Sentencing Alternative of 90 months. RP 977. Ms. Harris, who participated in several burglaries, whose car was regularly used to commit the offenses, and in whose apartment a large amount of stolen property was recovered, entered drug court with a sentence of 22 to 29 months. RP 4247-48. David Knutson, Mr. Linville's drug dealer and in whose home a large amount of stolen property was recovered, including guns, entered drug court with a sentence of 18 to 20 months. RP 3526-28. Ms. Olsen, who participated in a number of burglaries, pleaded guilty with a standard range of 63 to 84 months. RP 3122-23. Avery Garner who participated in some of the

burglaries pleaded guilty with a standard range of 43 to 57 months. RP 1378-79.

A jury convicted Mr. Linville of 138 counts and four firearm enhancements. CP 528-712.

Mr. Linville received a sentence in excess of 76 years in prison. CP 878.

#### E. Argument

1. Although the State was statutorily barred from prosecuting 56 offenses against Mr. Linville, the Court of Appeals concluded Mr. Linville could not challenge that illegal prosecution and resulting convictions on appeal.

This Court has made clear that when the State prosecutes an individual for leading organized crime, the State may not also prosecute the person for any other offense that is not within the definition of criminal profiteering activity. *State v. Linville*, 191 Wn.2d 513, 520, 423 P.3d 842 (2018). RCW 9A.82.085 makes clear

In a criminal prosecution alleging a violation of RCW 9A.82.060 [for leading organzed crime] the state is barred from joining any offense other than the offenses alleged to be part of the pattern of criminal profiteering activity. . .

This Court recognized "criminal profiteering activity" is unambiguously limited to the 46 crimes listed in RCW 9A.82.010(4). *Linville*, 191 Wn.2d at 521-22. Thus, "the State can join all predicate acts of "criminal"

profiteering" that form part of the "pattern" in a single case. But it cannot join any other crimes in that same case: under RCW 9A.82.085, the "joinder bar." *Id.* at 519. Despite this unambiguous bar, the State did precisely what the statute prohibits.

The State ignored the plain statutory restriction and joined 56 offenses which are not "criminal profiteering activity" together with the charge of leading organized crime. Moreover, the trial court took no measures to prevent the State's plain violation of the statute.

In fact, the State has never disputed the plain restriction of RCW 9A.82.085. Instead, the State has argued the definition of "criminal profiteering" includes any criminal act, and thus it was not barred from joining the additional 56 crimes. *See Linville*, 191 Wn.2d at 520. This Court quickly rejected that overly expansive reading as contrary to the plain and unambiguous definition of "criminal profiteering" in RCW 9A.82.010(4). Thus, even the State would agree RCW 9A.82.085 barred it from joining those additional offenses, where they were not acts of criminal profiteering.

Mr. Linville's trial plainly violated the clear directive of RCW 9A.82.085. Contrary to the express statutory language, an in the absence of any authority permitting it, the State tried him on 56 additional. Those

counts and resulting sentences substantially prejudiced both before the jury and in the length of the sentence he received.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals refused to address this claim on appeal. In other instances in which a court exceeds the authority provided by the legislature, this Court has made clear such issues may be raised on appeal.

Defining crimes and fixing the punishment is a function reserved for the Legislature alone. *State v. Wadsworth*, 139 Wn.2d 724, 734, 991 P.2d 80, 86 (2000). But more than that, the legislature may define the State or courts can seek conviction and punishment. *See*, *State v. Martin*, 94 Wn.2d 1, 7, 614 P.2d 14 (1980) (absence of authority to seek death penalty following guilty plea barred precluded State from filing notice of intent to seek death penalty).

This Court has recognized that in instances in which a court acts beyond the authority provided by the legislature, such actions may always be challenged for the first time on appeal. *State v. Ford*, 137 Wn.2d 472, 476, 973 P.2d 452 (1999). In *State v. Loux*, the Court concluded it could review a challenge to concurrent terms even though no objection was raised in the trial court and in fact the parties may have agreed. 69 Wn.2d 855, 857-58, 420 P.2d 693 (1966), *overruled on other grounds by State v.* 

*Moen*, 129 Wn.2d 535, 919 P.2d 69 (1996). The Court noted neither "the consent of the parties [or] concurrence of the court could . . . serve to bind the state of Washington in the face of the provisions of the statute. *Id*. at 858. The same must hold here.

Just as with a miscalculated offender score, or improper concurrent sentences, the prosecution and conviction of Mr. Linville for offenses which are not a part of a pattern of criminal profiteering activity "exceeded the authority of the court." It is nonsensical to conclude Mr. Linville could challenge an unlawful sentence for the first time on appeal but not the unlawful conviction itself. RCW 9A.82.085.

The refusal of the Court of Appeals to review the 56 unlawful convictions in this case is an issue of substantial public importance warranting review. RAP 13.4.

## 2. A conviction of the first alternative means of trafficking in stolen property cannot rest on accomplice liability.

Under RCW 9A.08.020, a person may be convicted as an accomplice to a crime by knowingly aiding or assisting another in the commission of that crime. *State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d 471, 510-11, 14 P.3d 713 (2000).

 $<sup>^{1}\,\</sup>textit{Moen}$  overruled Loux only to the extent Loux concluded acting in excess of statutory authority was jurisdictional.

While the general law defining accomplice liability applies to many offenses, it does not govern the legal complicity required for all offenses. *State v. Montejano*, 147 Wn. App. 696, 196 P.3d 1083 (2008). The complicity statute is "general in its terms and manifestly intended to meet cases not otherwise specifically provided for by statute." *State v. Wappenstein*, 67 Wash. 502, 530, 121 P.2d 989 (1912); *Montejano*, 147 Wn. App. at 703.

#### RCW 9A.82.050(1) provides:

A person who knowingly initiates, organizes, plans, finances, directs, manages, or supervises the theft of property for sale to others, or who knowingly traffics in stolen property, is guilty of trafficking in stolen property in the first degree.

State v. Lindsey concluded that provision sets forth two alternative means of committing the offense delineated by the use of the terms "who knowingly." 177 Wn. App. 233, 243-44, 311 P.3d 61 (2013). This Court has adopted that reading of the statute. State v. Owens, 180 Wn.2d 90, 97-98, 323 P.3d 1030 (2014). Thus, a person is guilty of the offense if he (1) knowingly initiates, organizes, plans, finances, directs, manages, or supervises the theft of property for sale to others, or (2) knowingly traffics in stolen property. Id. Under the first, or "supervisory" alternative, a person may not be convicted as an accomplice.

Legislative intent is determined from a statute's palin language together with "the text of the provision in question, the context of the statute in which the provision is found, related provisions, amendments to the provision, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *State v. Conover*, 183 Wn.2d 706, 711, 355 P.3d 1093 (2015). Trafficking in stolen property is a part of the Criminal Profiteering Act, RCW 9A.82. In determining the intent of the supervisory alternative of trafficking stolen property it is useful to examine interpretations of other provisions of that Act.

In *State v. Hayes* the court analyzed language of the leading organized crime statute, also a part of the Criminal Profiteering Act (RCW 9A.82.060), which requires the person "organiz[e], manag[e], direct[], supervis[e], or finance[e] any three or more persons with the intent to engage in a pattern of criminal profiteering activity." 164 Wn. App. 459, 466, 262 P.3d 538 (2011). While not identical, that language is in all relevant respects the same as that found in the supervisory alternative of RCW 9A.82.050(1). While acknowledging nothing in the accomplice statute precluded its application to leading organized crime, the court noted "it is sometimes apparent from the way the legislature has defined a particular crime that traditional accomplice liability provisions are not applicable to that crime." *Hayes*, 164 Wn. App. at 469. The court concluded the language of the leading organized crime statute made it

apparent that accomplice liability could not apply. *Id.* "The statutory definition of the crime shows that it is intended to apply to persons who 'lead' organized crime, rather than to all persons in a group who commit crimes." *Id.* at 469 (Internal quotations omitted. Quoting *State v. Johnson*, 124 Wn.2d 57, 71, 873 P.2d 514(1994); *see also*, *Montejano*, 147 Wn. App at 696 (because riot statute, RCW 9A.84.010, requires acting with three or more people but is elevated to felony only where the "actor" is armed, accomplice liability could not apply to felony riot conviction).

For the offense of leading organized crime "while guilt for the crime is predicated on group conduct, the conduct criminalized by the statute is the conduct of the leader. . . . There must be a hierarchy in which the defendant is at the apex and three or more other persons are below." *Hayes*, 164 Wn. App. at 474. If the language "organiz[e], manag[e], direct[], supervis[e], or finance[e]" in RCW 9A.82.060 defines the conduct of a leader the same must be true of the terms "initiates, organizes, plans, finances, directs, manages, or supervises" in RCW 9A.82.050(1). Both statutes target a leader or manager of an enterprise. Because the first alternative of trafficking in stolen property defines the acts of the organizer, manager or supervisor, and not the person(s) organized, managed or supervised, a conviction of that alternative cannot be based on accomplice liability.

Despite the language of the statute the Court simply conclude it does not define a hierarchy and in fact does not require more than one actor. Opinion at 9. It is impossible for one to "direct" "manage" or "supervise," if they are the lone actor. Both leading organized crime and trafficking were created as part of the CPA. It is illogical and contrary to basic rules of statutory construction, to assume that the legislature's use of those supervisory terms in one portion of the CPA preclude accomplice liability, yet the same words in another section of the CPA do not.

The opinion is contrary to and irreconcilable with *Hayes*. In addition, the opinion is contrary to this Court's well-established case lase regarding interpreting statutes. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4.

### 3. The State presented insufficient evidence for imposition of the firearm enhancements.

The State bears the burden of proving each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); *State v. Recuenco*, 163 Wn.2d 428, 439, 180 P.3d 1276 (2008). This court may affirm a conviction only if, "after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential

elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 318, 99 S. Ct. 628, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1970); *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

In four of the burglaries firearms were stolen from the homes. RP 1816, 2528, 3656, 3981-82. For each of these the State charged Mr. Linville with first-degree burglary and alleged a firearm enhancement for each. CP 370, 377, 386, 390.

To prove a person is "armed" for purposes of such an enhancment there must be "a nexus between the defendant, the crime, and the weapon." *State v. Brown*, 162 Wn.2d 422, 431, 173 P.3d 245 (2007). Importantly, the State must present evidence that the defendant or his accomplice handled the weapon "in a manner indicative of an intent or willingness to use it in furtherance of the crime." *Id.* at 432; *see also id.* at 433-34 (rejecting dissent's view that evidence of intent to use weapon is not a requirement).

Here, the State offered no evidence beyond the fact that guns were stolen during four burglaries. There was no evidence that Mr. Linville or an accomplice was intent on or willing to use those firearms to further the crime. Instead, the evidence indicates the guns were simply "loot" taken away from the burglaries for resale. This conclusion is bolstered by the

fact that police did not recover any guns on Mr. Linville and never recovered the guns taken from any of the four burglaries. RP 749-50.

Indeed, the state's argument to the jury for each of the four counts consisted of nothing more than noting that the guns were taken. RP 5451, 5481, 5518, 5540. That evidence is insufficient to establish the nexus for purposes of the four enhancements.

Brown reasoned that for either, actual possession by either the defendant or an accomplice was not necessarily sufficient to establish the defendant was armed. 162 Wn.2d at 432-33. Instead, the Court held the State was still required to prove an intent or willingness to use the weapon. *Id.* at 434.

Despite the *Brown's* clear holding, the Court of Appeals concludes the possession, even fleeting possession, at any point during a burglary necessarily establishes the nexus. Opinion at 10-11. That simply ignores the clear holding of *Brown*. "Evidence that the [gun] was briefly in the burglar's possession does not make [the burglar] armed within the meaning of the sentencing enhancement statute." *Brown*, 162 Wn.2d at 435. Instead, an "intent or willingness to use the [weapon] is a condition of the nexus requirement." *Brown*, 162 Wn.2d. at 434.

Here, as in *Brown*, the State presented no evidence of an intent or willingness to use the weapon in furtherance of the crime. Instead, just as

in *Brown*, "the facts suggest that the weapon[s were] merely loot." *Id.* at 434.

The conclusion of the Court of Appeals is directly contrary to this Court's decision in *Brown* warranting review under RAP 13.4.

## **4.** Double Jeopardy protections do not permit Mr. Linville's multiple convictions of trafficking stolen property.

The Double Jeopardy Clause of the federal constitution provides that no individual shall "be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb" for the same offense, and the Washington Constitution provides that no individual shall "be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense." U.S. Const. Amend. V; Const. Art. I, § 9.

These provisions protect against (1) a second prosecution for the same offense after an acquittal, (2) a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction, and (3) multiple punishments for the same offense. *North Carolina v. Pearce*, 395 U.S. 711, 717, 89 S. Ct. 2072, 23 L.Ed.2d 656 (1969), *overruled on other grounds*, *Alabama v. Smith*, 490 U.S. 794, 109 S. Ct. 2201, 104 L. Ed. 2d 865 (1989); *State v. Gocken*, 127 Wn.2d 95, 107, 896 P.2d 1267 (1995).

Focusing on the third of these, the prohibition on multiple punishments, this Court has said

When the Legislature defines the scope of a criminal act (the unit of prosecution), double jeopardy protects a

defendant from being convicted twice under the same statute for committing just one unit of the crime.

State v. Bobic, 140 Wn.2d 250, 261, 996 P.2d 610 (2000) (citing State v. Adel, 136 Wn.2d 629, 634, 965 P.2d 1072 (1998)

The unit of prosecution is designed to protect the accused from overzealous prosecution. *State v. Turner*, 102 Wn. App. 202, 210, 6 P.3d 1226 (2000).

The unit of prosecution, the punishable conduct under the statute, may be an act or a course of conduct. *State v. Tvedt*, 153 Wn.2d 705, 710, 107 P.3d 728 (2005). It is determined by examining the statute's plain language. *State v. Varnell*, 162 Wn.2d 165, 168, 170 P.3d 24 (2007). If the legislature has failed to specify the unit of prosecution in the statute, or if its intent is not clear, the court resolves any ambiguity in favor of the defendant. *Tvedt*, 153 Wn.2d at 711.

Trafficking in stolen property focuses upon engaging in the marketplace of stolen property as buyer, seller or intermediary, that is, the crime focuses upon the enterprise and not a particular act. That intent is illustrated by the terms "knowingly initiates, organizes, plans, finances, directs, manages, or supervises the theft of property for sale to others." RCW 9A.82.050(1). Plainly the statute includes both the taking and selling or property, but the statute also focuses on the conduct bridging

those acts. The statute focuses upon a course of conduct rather than a specific act.

Here, the State charged a separate count of trafficking based upon the property taken from each burglary. But, courts have made clear the focus of the crime of trafficking in stolen property is not on the taking of the property. In ruling that theft and trafficking were not the same criminal conduct the court noted the offenses have different victims. State v. Walker, 143 Wn. App. 880, 892, 181 P.3d 31 (2008). The victim of theft is the owner of the property while the victim of trafficking is the potentially unwitting purchaser. This makes clear the gravamen of the offense is not the taking of the property but rather the course of conduct leading to sale. Moreover, *Walker* illustrates that taking property from separate owners does not establish separate offenses. Thus, Mr. Linville could only be convicted of a single count of trafficking in stolen property, and certainly could not be charged with separate counts based on each separate taking. The Court of Appeals rejects Mr. Linville's claim reasoning the "evil the legislature has criminalized" is either the knowing facilitation or participation in the theft in order to sell stolen property, or the transfer of possession of property known to be stolen." Opinion at 13-14.

If the unit of prosecution is taking the property, then theft and trafficking in stolen property are the same offense. In that case, the court

must dismiss each of the theft charges. Alternatively, if it is taking possession of stolen property for resale, Mr. Linville may only be convicted of a single count of trafficking. The State cannot have it both ways.

The opions is contrary to *Walker* and presents a significant constitutional question. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4.

#### F. Conclusion

Mr. Linville convictions and resulting sentences were unlawfully obtained in violation of the plain limitations of RCW 9A.82.085. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals opinion regarding Mr. Linville's trafficking convictions and enhancements are contrary to settled law and warrant review.