FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/19/2020 4:13 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98582-1 COA No. 47916-8-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

KENNETH LINVILLE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Carol Murphy Cause No. 14-1-00296-7

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph J.A. Jackson Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

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

C. ARGUMENT.

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

1. This Court should not re-consider the issue of whether RCW 9A.82.085 constituted a manifest constitutional error that could be considered for the first time on appeal.

The law of the case doctrine "refers to the binding effect of determinations made by the appellate court on further proceedings in the trial court on remand or to the principle that an appellate court will generally not make a redetermination of the rules of law which it has announced in a prior determination in the same case." State v. Harrison, 148 Wn.2d 550, 562, 61 P.3d 1104 (2003) (internal quotations and citations omitted). The doctrine promotes efficiency and finality of the judicial process by protecting against relitigation of a settled issue. Harrison, 148 Wn.2d at 562. The doctrine derives from both RAP 2.5 (c)(2) and common law. Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 41, 123 P.3d 844, 848 (2005).

In this case, the original decision of the Court of Appeals concluded that improper joinder under RCW 9A.82.085 did not manifest a constitutional error and could not be raised for the first time on appeal. That decision necessarily predicated that Court of

Appeals' conclusion that Linville's trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel and this Court's review of that issue. The doctrine of the law of the case should be construed as prohibiting further review of the issue.

Even if the law of the case doctrine did not apply, the Court of Appeals decision correctly concluded that Linville had not demonstrated constitutional error. State v. Linville, No. 47916-8-II, "Unpublished Opinion," April 21, 2020, at 7. The anti-joinder provision contained in RCW 9A.82.085 is rooted in statute. Linville did not demonstrate a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a); State v. Lamar, 180 Wn.2d 576, 582, 327 P.3d 46 (2014); State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926-927, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). Linville has not demonstrated a basis upon which this Court should accept review of this issue.

2. The Court of Appeals decision that the evidence was sufficient to support the imposition of firearm enhancements was correct and does not conflict with decisions of this Court.

The decision of the Court of Appeals correctly notes that the facts of this case are distinguishable from those in <u>State v. Brown</u>, 162 Wn.2d 422, 173 P.3d 245 (2007). The test for determining sufficiency of the evidence for a firearm enhancement is whether,

after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, any rationale trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Cardenas-Flores, 189 Wn.2d 243, 265, 401 P.3d 19 (2017); State v. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d 798, 826, 425 P.3d 807 (2018). For purposes of a firearm enhancement, a defendant or an accomplice is armed with a firearm if the weapon was readily accessible and easily available and there is a nexus between the defendant, the crime, and the weapon. State v. Easterlin, 159 Wn.2d 203, 206, 149 P.3d 366 (2006); RCW 9.94A.533(3). In Brown, this Court found that mere close proximity of the weapon to the defendant, or constructive possession alone is insufficient to show that the defendant is armed." State v. Brown, 162 Wn.2d at 431. However, constructive possession is distinguishable from actual possession. State v. Hernandez, 172 Wn. App. 537, 544, 290 P.3d 1052 (2012).

The decision of the Court of Appeals correctly noted that, in a light most favorable to the State, the record demonstrated that Linville or an accomplice had actual possession of the firearms for each of the burglaries. State v. Linville, No. 47916-8-II, "Unpublished Opinion," April 21, 2020, at 11; RP 893-895, 1148, 1816, 2520-2521, 2527-2533, 3254-3255, 3654, 3656-3657, 3770-

3771, 3777, 3808-3809, 3979-3983, 4256-4258. The decision of the Court of Appeals properly acknowledged and applied <u>Brown</u>. Unlike the facts in <u>Brown</u>, for each firearm enhancement, Linville or an accomplice actually possessed the firearm. There is no basis pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) for which this Court should accept review.

3. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that Linville's convictions for trafficking in stolen property did not violate double jeopardy and the decision is not contrary to State v. Walker, 143 Wn. App. 880, 892, 181 P.3d 31 (2008).

The Court of Appeals correctly found that the plain language of RCW 9A.82.050 demonstrates that trafficking stolen property occurs by either "(1) the knowing facilitating or participating in the theft of property so that it can be sold, or (2) transferring possession of property known to be stolen." State v. Lindsey, 177 Wn. App. 233, 241-42, 311 P.3d 61 (2013); RCW 9A.82.050, 010(19), State v. Linville, No. 47916-8-II, "Unpublished Opinion," April 21, 2020, at 13. The decision of the Court of Appeals correctly found that each of the 39 distinct convictions for trafficking stolen property were separate violations of the law. State v. Linville, No. 47916-8-II, "Unpublished Opinion," April 21, 2020, at 16, State v. Reeder, 184 Wn.2d 805, 365 P.3d 1243 (2015); State v. Tili, 139 Wn.2d 107, 124, 985 P.2d 365 (1999).

Linville argues that the decision conflicts with State v. Walker; however, nothing in Walker compels a different conclusion than was reached by the Court of Appeals in this case. In Walker, Division II of the Court of Appeals held that first degree theft against the forest service and trafficking in stolen property were not same criminal conduct because the saw mill that received the property was a victim of the trafficking charge. State v. Walker, 143 Wn. App. at 892. That decision does not equate to Linville's claim that he can only be charged with one count of trafficking stolen property. As the Court of Appeals recognized, the property Linville trafficked came from 39 different houses over the course of several months and paid numerous visits to pawn shops, jewelers, and various individuals to sell the stolen goods for drugs or money. State v. Linville, No. 47916-8-II, "Unpublished Opinion," April 21, 2020, at 15-16.

The Court of Appeals explained why the decision does not conflict with <u>Walker</u>, stating "Linville's contention is without merit because the unit of prosecution includes the requisite element of knowing participation in the theft to facilitate the sale of stolen property thereafter." <u>Id.</u> at n. 5; <u>Walker</u>, 143 Wn. App. at 887. Contrary to Linville's claim, the decision of the Court of Appeals

does not conflict with <u>Walker</u> and there is no basis for review pursuant to RAP 13.4.

4. The Court of Appeals correctly found that accomplice liability can attach to the crime of trafficking stolen property and that decision does not conflict with State v. Hayes.

The decision of the Court of Appeals correctly found that trafficking stolen property does not prohibit accomplice liability. By default, accomplice liability is available under RCW 9A.08.020,¹ and only when it is apparent that the legislature intended to preclude accomplice liability will liability as a principal be required. State v. Hayes, 164 Wn. App. 459, 470, 262 P.3d 538 (2011). In arguing that RCW 9A.82.050 does not allow accomplice liability for trafficking, Linville relies solely upon comparisons to the statutory interpretation of RCW 9A.82.060, Leading Organized Crime, which was held in Hayes to disallow accomplice liability. Hayes, 164 Wn. App. at 470. As the Court of Appeals noted, leading organized crime, as described in Hayes, requires that the defendant be at the apex of the hierarchy, while trafficking stolen property does not.

¹ 9A.08.020. Liability for conduct of another — Complicity.

⁽³⁾ A person is an accomplice of another person in the commission of a crime if:

⁽a) With knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, he or she:

⁽i) Solicits, commands, encourages, or requests such other person to commit it; or

⁽ii) Aids or agrees to aid such other person in planning or committing it; or

⁽b) His or her conduct is expressly declared by law to establish his or her complicity.

<u>State v. Linville</u>, No. 47916-8-II, "Unpublished Opinion," April 21, 2020, at 8-9; <u>Hayes</u>, 164 Wn. App. at 470.

The decision of the Court of Appeals correctly distinguished

Hayes from this case. Unlike in Hayes, the un-objected to

accomplice liability instructions did not relieve the State of its

burden to prove that Linville was at the apex of the criminal

hierarchy. The charges of trafficking in stolen property had no such

requirement. The Court of Appeals correctly found that Linville did

not demonstrate a manifest constitutional error from the inclusion of

instructions on accomplice liability which were not objected to at

trial. There is no reason for this Court to accept review.

D. CONCLUSION.

For all of the reasons indicated above, the State respectfully

request that this court deny Linville's Petition for Review.